THE ESTELLE DOHENY

. COLLECTION

Robert O. Schad

IGH on a sunny hilltop overlooking the

Pacific Ocean, surrounded by fragrant
yrange groves and mantled by the serene
:alm of areligious community, stands a small,
ewel-like building that contains one of the
10table collections of manuscripts and rare
»ooks in the United States — the Estelle
Joheny Collection in the Edward Laurence
doheny Memorial LibraryatSt. John’s Semi-
1ary. The seminaryislocated a short distance
rom the little town of Camarillo, California,
»n ground given in 1927 by Don Juan Cama-
illo, scion of one of the land-holding families
sf early California, to the Most Reverend
John J. Cantwell, D.D., then Roman Catho-
lic Bishop of Los Angeles.

The visitor, turning into the seminary
rrounds, passes through a handsome gate and
sver a climbing, flower-bordered road that
brings him out on a plateau crowned with
‘he main seminary building, a towered and
olonnaded structure whose situation and
architecture are reminiscent of a hilltop

monastery of Italy. Beyond the seminary, the
Doheny Library, a two-story building one
hundred and ten feet in length, stands facing
the south, its facade flanked on either side
by a roof-high loggia formed of graceful
columns. '

"In contrast to the simple and purposeful
main building of the seminary, the library
is a charming and graceful structure of pink
stucco. On either side of the richly orna-
mented center arch of cast stone is a hand-
somely grilled window. Over the entrance,
in the center of the arch, is a statue of Our
Lady of the Miraculous Medal to whom Mrs.
Doheny has a particular devotion. The arch
itself was copied from the famous chapel of
the Cathedral at Mexico City, often visited
by the Dohenys. Rising above the horizontal
roof-line of red tile, a Celtic cross is silhou-
etted against the clear blue sky, Two hours
by motor from the center of Los Angeles, the
Doheny Memorial Library is a quiet oasis in
a world of turmoil, a seemly and secure sanc-
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tuary for the preservation of worthy books.
Within the building is a remarkable col-
lection of early manuscripts, incunabula,

Bibles, Americana, first editions:of English

and American authors, and literary and his-
torical manuscripts and documents, as well
as examples of fine printing, bindings, illus-
trated books, and fore-edge paintings. The
library of some 6,500 volumes has been as-
sembled by a lady of dynamic personality, in
whom graciousness and determination are
nicely blended. For many years, Mrs. Doheny
has been quietly but steadily buying impor-
tant manuscripts and books and placing them
in this memorial to her husband, who was
the pioneer developer of oil in Southern
California and the discoverer of the Cerro
Azul oil field in Mexico.

It was about twenty years ago that Mrs.
Doheny began to explore the field of book col-
lecting. She had always enjoyed reading and
liked books and had kept them about her in

generous numbers, but she could spare little

time for hobbies and had scarcely thought of
books as collectors’ objects. To an unusual
degree, she had shared in the business life
of her husband which, for many years, in-
volved almost continuous travel by motor,

by rail, and at sea in their yacht the Casiana.

During this period Mrs. Doheny’s collecting
instincts found an outlet in gathering a vari-
ety of objects in which exquisite craftsman-

- ship, feminine charm, or playful ingenuity
were elements, such as jades, glass paper-

weights, laces, and fans. It is not surprising,
therefore, that among her first purchases of
unusual books were bindings set with jewels
or with miniatures, and books with con-
cealed paintings on their fore edges. Many
collectors have first succumbed to the fas-
cination of just such pieces, only to find
themselves later drawn to books of more

subtle appeal. In Mrs. Doheny’s case, more
serious -and sybstantial interests soon de-
veloped, yet she frankly acknowledges the
pleasure she still ‘experiences in finding a
fore-edge painting of real merit. Her collec-
tion of such examples is probably the largest
ever assembled by an individual.

In the period of transition from a life of
great activity to one of relative quiet, fol-
lowing the illness which ended Mr. Doheny’s
traveling days, Mrs. Doheny found that the
pursuit of a definite project offered a great
satisfaction to the collector. One such proj-
ect materialized from Merle Johnson’s High
Spots of American Literature. Mrs. Doheny
assembled a set of Johnson’s 180 titles, taking
care to obtain fine copies in original condi-
tion. When possible she acquired inscribed
copies, like the first edition of Huckleberry
Finn presented by Mark Twain to his wife,
which came as one of a group of forty books
from the author’s daughter, Clara Clemens;
in other instances she purchased autog'raph
letters of the authors to insert in her copies.
In a discussion of their mutual hobby, A.
Edward Newton urged her to extend her col-
lecting interests to English literature. This
she did, obtaining first editions of the works
of Shelley, Scott, Dickens, Stevenson, and
others. Her collection of the works of Dick-
ens, of whom she is especially fond, is a
strong one. She made no effort, however, to
cover the period of the Elizabethans, in
which Frank J. Hogan, a close friend of the
Dohenys, had specialized, following an ami-
able but spirited rivalry with Mrs. Doheny
in assembling their respective groups of
American “high spots,” but she did acquire
a number of early English books, including
More’s Utopia (1516), a first Anatomy of
Melancholy (1621), Shakespeare’s Poems
(1640), 2 Fourth Folio, and folios of Ben Jon-
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son (1616-1640) and Beaumorit and Fletcher

(1647)- o
In the earlier days of her collecting there

was also a project of gathering books on the
history of California and the West, a natural
interest of Mrs. Doheny and of her husband,
who had a pioneer’s curiosity regarding the

. sources of history of the land he knew so

intimately and loved so well. In this project,
with Robert E. Cowan’s Bibliography of the
History of California and the Pacific West,
published in 1914, asa guide, some 200 titles
(about one-fifth of those listed) were. ac-
quired, as well as a unique collection of
about 1,650 autographs of over a thousand
California pioneers assembled by Henry L.
Oak, at one time.librarian of the Bancroft
Library. The printed Californiana supply a
representative collection of source materials
on the colonization period (such as Clavi-
gero, Palou, Venegas, etc.), the period of
transition (such as Beechey, Forbes, Duflot
de Mofras, etc.), and the period of the Ameri-
can visitors, (such asDana, Pattie,and Robin-
son). Wierzbicki’s California As It Is, and As.
It May Be (San Francisco, 1849), an extreme-
ly rare pamphlet which has been called a
cornerstone of California literature, came
to the collection from Mr. Cowan’s library.
Another item of particular rarity and im-
portance is T. H. Jefferson’s Map of the
Emigrant Road from Independence Mo, to
St. Francisco (1849), which the California
Historical Society reprinted in facsimile.
Looking at the Estelle Doheny Collection
today, one realizes that the collection of fore-
edge paintings, “high spots,” Californiana,
and of eighteenth- and nineteenth-century
English literature,important as they are, were
but stepping stones to the higher plane on
which the library’s reputation now rests. It
was not until Mrs. Doheny became conscious

of the beauty and importance of early and
illuminated manuscripts and of fine incuna-
bula that she found her true métier as a col-
lector. In this field, her considerable knowl-
edge of books and her connoisseurship were
really brought into play. About 1932, she
acquired from Mrs. George M. Millard two
manuscripts of exquisite beauty, a fifteenth-
century French Book of Hours, and a thir-
teenth-century French Bible. From Mrs.
Millard she also bought other early manu-
scripts, including a fine twelfth-century Eng-
lish manuscript and the superb Colonna Mis-
sal, both from the Chester Beatty collection.
‘The same dealer, a rare personality, whose
charm and meticulous taste are affectionately
and gratefully remembered, also supplied an
unusual nineteenth-century tour-de-force of
illumination — William Morris’ deneid.
Among the incunabula acquired from
Mrs. Millard were the first Greek Homer
(Florence, 1488/g), the Breydenbach Pere-
grinationes (Mainz, 1486), and the famous
Aldine Hypnerotomachia of 1499.
Following Mr. Doheny’s death in 19 385, his
widow assumed control and active manage-
ment of his business interests, and for a time
her collecting had to be put aside in favor of
more urgent matters; notwithstanding, there
Wwas continuity in the library’s development.
Miss Lucille Miller, since 1931' the private
librarian at Chester Place, the Dohenyhome
in Los Angeles, was engaged in preparing a
catalogue, and on occasion she would call
attention to some particularly desirable item.
being offered. Even in her busiest days, Mrs.
Doheny kept in touch with her library and
passed upon every prospective accession.
This is a responsibility that she has enjoyed
too much ever to delegate to anyone. :
By 1939, Mrs. Doheny had formulated a
plan for giving the collection to the Roman
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Catholic Archbishop of Los Angeles, the in-
cumbent at that time being the Most Rev-
erend John J. Cantwell, D.D., so that it might
be preserved intact and made available to
students under suitable restrictions. The Ed-
ward Laurence Doheny Memorial Library
was dedicated October 14, 1940 by his Ex-
cellency, the Most Reverend Amleto Gio-
vanni Cicognani, Apostolic Delegate to the
United States, in the presence of Countess
Doheny, Archbishop Cantwell, and a group
of dignitaries of the Church.

The building, designed by Wallace Neff,
provides for the seminary’s own reference
library of some 85,000 volumes, with read-
ing rooms, a bindery, a photographic labora-
tory, and offices for the Reverend James W.
Richardson, C.M., Librarian of the Seminary
and Curator of the Estelle Doheny Collec-
tion, which is housed on the second floor.

An important part of the Memorial Li-
brary, representing particularly the interests
of Mr. Doheny, is the Western Room, which
contains the Californiana and other Western
Americana as well as his favorite paintings
of Western scenes by William R. Leigh,
Charles M. Russell, Frederick Remington,
and H. W. Hansen. Around the walls is a
frieze which was commissioned by Mr. Do-
heny in the early 1920s for the Chester Place
house. Begun by a European mural painter,
Detlief Sammann, and carried on by Charles
M. Russell, the famous Montana artist, the
frieze depicts many episodes in the history
of this country from the landing of the Pil-
grims to the settlement of the Far West.
Originally intending to bring the story down
to the discovery of oil in Southern Califor-
nia, Russell found himself running out of
space as he came toward the end, and, after
doing justice to the subject of the western
cattle ranges, the “cowboy artist” left his

frieze uncompleted — the oil field was never
reached.

'The principal room is the Treasure Room,
which contains the majority of the manu-
scripts, books, broadsides, and documents
for which the library is noted. Bookcases
with bronze-grille doors line the four walls
and across one end of the room is a balcony
with additional shelves for reference mate-
rial. Much of the shelf space of the Treasure
Room is devoted to the English and Ameri-
can first editions, which are fully described
in a handsomely-illustrated catalogue pre-
pared by Miss Miller and printed in 1940 at
the Ward Ritchie Press in an edition of one
hundred copies for private distribution. The
arrangement of this catalogue under sixteen
headings represents the diversity of the col-
lector’s interests, and also gives evidence of
the early strengths of the collection. The first
sections indicate that an excellent start had
already been made in those classifications
which have since become notable. For ex-
ample, there were fifteen illuminated manu-
scripts; thirty-three incunabula; and fifteen
Bibles; the bulk of the three hundred pages,
however, was devoted to a listing of the
modern literary and historical works.

In the intervening decade of growth, the
total number of books has not increased
markedly, but there now are thirty-five
manuscripts, about 150 incunabula, and
about fifty rare Bibles of which a dozen were
printed before 1501. Some of the additions
were listed and illustrated in Part Two of
the Catalogue issued in 1946, but many of
the most important pieces have been ac-
quired in the last four years. Among these
are half-a-dozen early. manuscripts, a dozen
notable incunabula, ten first-rate Americana,
three important Bibles, and . four unique
California documents.
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The early manuscripts are the chief glory
of the collection at Camarillo. Few libraries
of recent origin can claim three important
codices of the ninth and tenth centuries, or
thirty distinguished examples of illumina-
tion dating from the twelfth to the sixteenth
centuries. There are Bibles, Gospels, com-
mentaries, liturgical works, and a group of
richly illuminated Books of Hours. Only a
few can be singled out for mention here. The
Moralia in Job of Gregory the Great, who
died in 604 and was the first monk to become
a pope, was written in Germany about the
middle of the ninth century for Werinher,
Bishop of St. Peter’s, in Carolingian minus-
cules with several ornamental initials show-
ing a Celtic influence. It is one of the earliest
extant copies of this work of St. Gregory and
the earliest manuscript in America of any
of his writings. As received by Mrs. Doheny,
it was in a fifteenth-century binding in bad
condition, which afforded it little protection.
A curious sort of damage had been done to
it centuries ago by someone in search of small
pieces of vellum for other use, perhaps bind-
er’s scraps or short deeds. Many blank mar-
gins had been snipped off, but care had been
taken to avoid cutting into the text. In a few
instances where the despoiler, mindful only
of one side of the leaf, eliminated a line of
text on the other, the leaf has been restored
by the addition of new vellum and the miss-
ing text issupplied in an early hand.
Preservation and adequate safeguards for
the use of her collections are vital considera-
tions in Mrs. Doheny’s plan. Her intention
is to put each piece into good condition and
to give it the best of curatorial care and phy-
sical protection in the library building. She
was dissatisfied with the condition of the St.
Gregory manuscript and, in consultation
with the late Belle da Costa Greene, she ar-

ranged to have it rebound by Marguerite
Duprez-Lahey. Miss Greene selected a skin
of oasis for the binding and gave permission
for the use of a blind-tooled pattern, similar

to, but not identical with, a binding of one

of the important manuscripts in the Morgan
Library. The result is a binding of great dis-
tinction, probably the finest example of con-
temporary work in the collection.

Another recent acquisition of importance
is the Liesborn Gospels, so called because it
first belonged to the Monastery of Saints
Cosmas, Damian, and Simeon at- Liesborn
in Westphalia. It is written in Carolingian
minuscules, with semi-uncial capitals, and
bears a dedicatory poem in which Berthildis,
great-granddaughter of Wedekind the Great,
King of Saxony, presents the volume to the
monastery. It is of special interest for its curi-
ous polychrome oak cover, carved with the
Crucifixion and symbols of the four Evan-
gelists. Such bindings are most uncommon,
Another recent addition is the Liber Sapi-
entie Solomonis et Liber Sydrach, our Books
of the Wisdom of Solomon and Ecclesiasticus
— also of tenth-century German origin. It
has special interest for paleographers because
itis partly written in Irish minuscule, a script
rarely encountered in American collections.
The remaining part of the text is in Caro-
lingian minuscule. :

Two of the four twelfth-century manu-
scripts are of English origin — one a particu-
larly fine example of illumination — the
commentary known as In Unum ex Quatuor
by Zacharias Chrysopolitanus, written in
two different Gothic hands, with four large,
historiated initials on burnished-gold back-
grounds which, in the words of Eric Millar,
are “very remarkable from every point of
view” and unparalleled in the field of Eng-
lish illumination, It is in a contemporary
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binding and is described by Millar in the
Chester Beatty Catalogue of Western Manu-
scripts (1927) and listed, with a reproduction,
in the Doheny Catalogue of 1g40. Of the four
thirteenth-century manuscripts, one isa char-
acteristic French Bible of miniature size (514
by 314 inches) executed on 6go folios of tis-
sue-thin vellum each containing two 43-line
columns and ornamented with historiated
initials for each book, and smaller initials
for each chapter inred or blue with pen-work
marginal decoration.

A dramatic contrast is found, among six
fourteenth-century manuscripts, between
two Bibles of Italian and French origin re-
spectively, of almost identical age and size.
The former (produced at Bologna around
1300) reveals a bold, simplified treatment of
its more than ninety large, historiated initials
on solid blue grounds, whereas the French
Bible (from the collection of Sir Thomas
Brooke) has minutely painted, historiated
initials on rich, diapered backgrounds in
strong blues and reds reminiscent of the
coloring of stained glass. Two large strap
initials contain small historiated initials.

There are other manuscripts which de-
mand at least a reference. The Colonna Mis-
sal, in its lovely contemporary binding of
dark red calf elaborately tooled in the Vene-
tian manner and bearing the arms of Car-
dinal Pompeo Colonna, is one of a series
intended for theservice of the Sistine Chapel.
This manuscript also- is described by Eric
Millar in the Beatty catalogue. Six compan-
ion volumes are now in the John Rylands
Library, described in that institution’s cata-
logue by M. R. James. Fine examples of
the humanistic hand are found in Petrarch’s
Sonetti e Canzoni; Trionfi of Italian fif-
teenth-century workmanship and a sumptu-
ous sixteenth-century French Book of Hours

ascribed to the hand of Geofroy Tory. In
each the calligraphy is graceful and both
volumes are models of elegance. A Priéres
du Roi au Sainct Esprit is one of two cut-
work manuscripts in the collection which
have appealed strongly to Mrs. Doheny be-
cause of their delicate, lace-like quality. The
Priéres was made in France before 1590 for
Henri III and later owned by Louis XIII
and Anne of Austria, the daughter, wife, and
mother of kings.

The incunabula section at Camarillo now
includes more than 150 imprints, a number
exceeded in California only by the extensive
collection at the Huntington Library. Of the
recent acquisitions, one of pre-eminent qual-
ity is the copy of the Subiaco Lactantius of
1465, the first dated book printed in Italy. It
has a distinguished provenance, coming from
the collections of Lord Amherst, the Duke
of Westminster, and Sir George L. Holford.
Its brilliantly illuminated initial letters have
the same thistle pattern to be found in the
Huntington copy. Subiaco books supplied
the model for St. John Hornby’s Subiaco
type, in which some of his fine Ashenden,
Press folios were printed. '

One of the minor glories of the libraryisa
group of five works on vellum from the press
at Mainz, two bearing the imprint of Fust and
Schoeffer and three the imprint of Schoeffer
alone. The Duranti of 1459 is the earliest
complete printed book at Camarillo — so
early, in fact, that it may be assumed that the
obliteration of the colophon was the work of
someone intent on concealing the fact that
it was printed from type. The contemporary
illumination is particularly graceful and
charming and, although four leaves are sup-
plied in excellent facsimile, on vellum, itis
about as choice a copy as a bibliophile today |
could hope to obtain. ' .
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. The Bible of 1462 isa particularly fine and
iarge copy in its original bindings of oak
boards covered with stamped calf. One vol-
ume retains its horn-covered “window title.”
Of interest to bibliographers is the presence
in this copy of the pin holesfor securing regis-
. ter and the collator’s signature marks in the
- lower right-hand corners of the pages. Such
“defects” were usually cropped by the binder.
The illuminations are especially good and
could be Spanish, the Bible having come
from that country. Also in the quintet of
i Mainz books on vellum are St. Thomas
. Aquinas’ Summa Theologica of 1467 (of
~ which the collection also possesses the un-
. dated Mentelin edition, assigned to 1466, on
©  paper) and the same author’s Super Quarto
. Libro Sententiarum (1469) in a dark red
. morocco binding with the arms of an em-
peror of Austria, from the Holford Collec-
tion. Rounding out the group is the Epistole
of St. Jerome (1470), another superb copy
in a contemporary calf binding, from the
Phillipps collection. The first of ‘the two
volumes opens with a remarkable initial “F”
with figures of Adam and Eve entwined in
the finials. The silver ground of the initials,
which has oxidized as usual, occurs through-
out the book. The first page of text has a
painting of St. Jerome with his lion in the
initial and a handsome border decoration
with figures of three huntsmen attacking a
dragon with gun, crossbow, and a rock.

- Other Fust and Schoeffer imprints in the
collection are Cicero’s De Officiis of 1466
and one of two known copies of the broad-
side Brief of Pope Pius II sanctioning the
election of Adolph of Nassau to the See of
Mainz, 1461, a document of peculiar interest
to students of printing in view of the con-
sequent sack of Mainz and the dispersal of
printers-following Adolph’s accession.

The preponderance. of subject matter in
the incunabula is religious, but within this
section are groups of esthetic or typographic
interest. For example, an unusual trio of
printed Hore from the press of Phillippe
Pigouchet, dated respectively 16 May, 8 Au-
gust and 16 September of 1498, are a delight
to the eye and a most interesting set for com-
parative study. The first and second volumes
bear the Dyson Perrins bookplate; the last
once belonged to Caroline Bonaparte. Re-
freshingly different and much gayer is the
Spanish Hours printed at Valencia in 1486
with lovely illuminations of that school.

‘There are numerous other early printings
of interest for their literary, historical, or ar-
tistic content, or for their importance in the
history of printing. From England there are
Caxton’s Golden Legend of 1483, alarge frag-
ment of his Canterbury Tales of 1478, Pyn-
son’s Dives and Pauper (1498) and Falle of
Princis (1494), as well asan indulgence which
was issued from Wynkyn de Worde’s press
in 1498.From Germany there are the Nurem-
berg Chronicle of 1493 and the Cologne
Chronicle of 1499 with its famous statement
about the beginnings of printing in Germany
and its prefiguration in Holland. Inciden-
tally, the collection contains fragments of the
Doctrinale attributed to Coster's press at
Utrecht about 1470, and of the g6-line Bible.
Italy is represented by such variety as the
Landino Dante (Brescia, 1487), Sweynheym
and Pannartz’s Cesar (Rome, 1469), and,
from the Venetian presses, Jenson’s Aulus
Gellius (1472), Ratdolt’s Euclid (1482), and
the colorful Etymologicum Magnum Gre-
cum of Callierges (1499), as well as several
Aldine imprints.

A number of important woodcut books are
present, including the Breydenbach Peregri-
nationes in Terram Sanctam (1486) with its
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extraordinarily long folding plates, the Mira-
bilia Rome (ca. 1485-1489) and Sorg’s Ehe
von der Kindheit Christi (1491). Among the
work of later illustrators are three excellent
sets of Diirer’s woodcuts from the Bement
collection — the Great Passion of 1511, the
Apocalypseof 1511 and the Life of the Blessed
Virgin which appeared before 1600.

The collection of printed Bibles at Cama-
rillo contains editions noted for their beauty,
textual importance, and historic significance.
The Pope Sixtus IV-Pope Julius II- Edwards-
Hibbert-Holford-Doheny copy on vellum of
the Jenson Bible of 1449 is such a book as
bibliophiles dream of. Inserted at the begin-
ing is a richly illuminated frontispiece con-
taining the title in gold letters within an
architectural border, St. Peter standing on
one side, St. Paul on the other; below, St.
Helena seated with a large cross in one hand,
in the other the papal crown, book, and keys;
at the top are the Della Rovere arms sup-
ported by two angels. On the first page of the
text is a miniature of God the Father, and
at the foot of that page the Della Rovere
arms, brilliantly emblazoned. In all proba-
bility this copy was intended for Pope Sixtus
IV by Jenson, who died the year following
its publication. It is likely that the Pope, in
turn, bequeathed it to his nephew, who be-
came Pope Julius II, laid the foundation of
St. Peter’s, founded the Vatican Museum,
and was the friend and patron of Bramante,
Raphael, and Michelangelo. This princely
book is described by Dibdin in his Biblio-
graphical Decameron; he saw it when it be-
longed to George Hibbert.

' Another Bible enhanced by associations is
the first printing of the so-called “Clementine
Version” printed at the Vatican Pressin 1592
by order of Pope Clement VIII. It has re-
mained to this day the standard edition of
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the Vulgate Bible. The Doheny copy is en-
riched by autograph letters of Pope Clement
"VIII and of Saint Carlo Borromeo and Car-
dinal Bellarmino, both of whom were editors
of this great Bible. The famous Compluten-
sian Polyglot Bible (Alcala, 1514-15 17) is the
W. Aldis Wright-J.P.R.Lyell copy. Thereare,
of course, first printings of the “Rhemes”
New Testament (1582) and of the Douay
Bible (1609-1610). Of Protestant Bibles there
are the three great versions known as the
Coverdale Bible (imperfect as usual), the
Great Bible (first issue of 1539), and the King
James Bible (first issue of 1611), all, as it

happens, from the library of A. Edward New-

ton. America is represented in the collection

by a superb copy of the first issue of the

Eliot Indian Bible (Cambridge 1661-1663)

in its original binding of dark blue morocco

tooled in gold by the King’s binder for pres-

entation to Charles II, to whom this Bible is

dedicated.

Apart from collections of autographs of
the Presidents of the United States and sig-
natures of the Signers of the Declaration of
Independence, the Doheny catalogues of
1940 and 1946 revealed little of importance
in the field of early Americana. The acqui-
sitions of the last four years indicate an in-
creased interest in this field. Two of the rarest
signatures in American history have been
acquired to complete .the Doheny set of the
Signers. A letter dated July 12, 1976 bears
not only the elusive autograph of Button
Gwinnett, but also those of his fellow signers,
John Hancock, Robert Morris, Francis
Lewis, George Read, and Arthur Middleton.
A printed document with blanks filled in
and signed by Thomas Lynch, Jr., August
22, 1775, isalmost equally rare, while a letter
of Casar Rodney, dated at Philadelphia July |
4, 1776, to his brother Thomas, mentioning
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